FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/8/2022 11:47 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/8/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100981-0

NO. 81723-0-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEROME TA'AFULISIA,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Sean O'Donnell, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121 206-623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Statements are testimonial and subject to the Confrontation Clause when they are procured with the primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony. This primary purpose test encompasses the purposes of both parties to the conversation. Jerome's brothers spoke to a family member, who surreptitiously recorded the conversation (known as the encampment video) for the police. Did the admission of his brothers' statements violate Jerome's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses?
- 2. Under the privacy act, an intercept order for a oneparty consent recording requires a showing of probable cause

that the target has committed a felony. Did the court err in admitting the encampment video when probable cause rested solely on the word of a criminal informant and police did not corroborate anything but innocuous information?

- 3. Under the privacy act, an intercept order also requires a specific showing that normal investigative procedures are likely to be either unsuccessful or too dangerous. Did the court err in admitting the encampment video when the application for the order relied on generalities, police sought the order after only one day of investigation, and police omitted material information?
- 4. Under ER 404(b), evidence of other misconduct may be admitted only if the court finds, on the record that its relevance to an element of the charged crime outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice. Did the court err in admitting evidence the brothers may have possessed other weapons unrelated to the charged crime without weighing the probative value against the danger of prejudice on the record?

5. Was appellant's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel violated when his attorney failed to object to expert ballistics matching testimony that exceeded the limits of generally accepted science and violated the court's ruling in limine?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The Taafulisia brothers grew up neglected and abused amidst drug use and criminality.

Jerome Taafulisia and his two brothers were raised in the streets, motels, and homeless encampments of King County. CP 244, 384-85. From a very young age, they were neglected, abused and exposed to substance abuse, untreated mental illness, and violence. CP 224-25, 384-85. Their father was in jail. CP 275. Their mother had, on multiple occasions, kicked them out and left the boys to fend for themselves. CP 245. In these dangerous circumstances, survival depended on projecting an image of strength and toughness. 2RP 1723-24, 1725-26.

On January 26, 2016, Jerome was 16 years old. CP 223. His brother James was 17. CP 223. Their younger brother

J.K.T. was just 13. CP 223. Their uncle was Pule Leatigaga, a homeless drug dealer known as Juice. Ex. 225 at 1-3, 17, 50. Another uncle was Faoi Tautolo, a homeless drug dealer known as Lucky. 2RP 1555-58. Lucky and the boys were very close and saw each other two or three times per week. 2RP 1561.

In late 2015, Lucky was involved in a tense incident between the Samoan community and Phat Nguyen, a Vietnamese drug dealer. 2RP 1738. Nguyen lived in a homeless encampment under Interstate 5 just off Airport Way South known as the Jungle, specifically, a part of the Jungle known as "the Caves." 2RP 518, 528. Lucky learned that one of Nguyen's dealers was trying to take over Samoan drug dealing territory and had threatened one of their elders with a gun. 2RP 1738. Lucky and Reno armed themselves with guns and went to confront Nguyen. 2RP 1740-50. Lucky described it as a miscommunication which was then resolved. 2RP 1620, 1751-52. He denied having a gun that night, but agreed he usually took his gun everywhere. 2RP 1742, 1747-48. He agreed his

group was armed and would have shot back if fired upon. 2RP 1740-41, 1747-48.

2. On January 26, 2016, there was a shooting at the Seattle homeless encampment known as the Jungle.

At about 7 p.m. on January 26, 2016, several persons came up to Nguyen behind his tent at the caves and asked about buying heroin. 2RP 528. Nguyen told them to go around to the front of the tent. 2RP 528-29. In front of the tent, James Tran, Amy Jo Shinault, and Ken Duke sat near a campfire. 2RP 532-34. Nguyen's girlfriend Tracy Bauer and a friend, Janine Zapata or Brooks were inside a nearby tent. 2RP 478; 535. Andrea Broussard and Jeffrey Patterson were also inside nearby tents. Ex. 60 at 71-75; Ex. 195 at 41.

One of the new arrivals suddenly pulled out a gun and shot Tran and then Nguyen. 2RP 546-52. When Bauer ran out of the tent, she was shot as well. 2RP 553-55. A different person then shot Shinault. 2RP 564. After the group left, Nguyen saw that Zapata had also been shot. 2RP 574-75.

Tran and Zapata died from their injuries. 2RP 780-81, 791-93. Bauer, Nguyen, and Shinault went directly into surgery and remained hospitalized for substantial lengths of time. 2RP 813, 820, 834, 841.

3. Tracy Bauer identified Juice as the man who shot her.

While still at the scene, Bauer said the shooter was a man named "Juice." Ex. 194 at 79; Ex. 195 at 55, 58. Police were quickly able to identify Juice as the street name of Pule Leatigaga, a homeless drug dealer. 2RP 1175-76. On January 28, two days after the shooting, Detective James Cooper talked to Bauer in the hospital. 2RP 1233, 1238-39. She again said that Juice shot her and described him as a Samoan male with braids. 2RP 1240-42.

Cooper waited four days to show Bauer a photo montage. 2RP 1366-68. He did not show her a photo of Juice because, by that time, he had decided Juice was no longer a suspect. 2RP 1961. Bauer did not identify any of the Ta'afulisia brothers. 2RP 1950-52. At trial, shje again testified she was shot by a

man she knew as Juice, who sometimes wore his hair in braids. Ex. 195 at 49, 54-55.

On January 28, Cooper also visited Nguyen. 2RP 1233-36. Nguyen told Cooper he had seen the shooter and would be able to identify him. 2RP 1237. Nevertheless, Cooper also waited four days to show a photo montage to Nguyen. 2RP 1956-57. Nguyen identified Jerome's brother James. 2RP 1956-57. He did not recognize Jerome. 2RP 1956-57.

At trial, Nguyen described the shooters as five people, young, with masks over their faces, possibly Samoan with curly hair. 2RP 523-24, 527-28. He testified that, based on the noise, he and Tran were shot with a .45 caliber weapon, while the Shinault and Bauer were hit with something smaller such as a .22 caliber. 2RP 558-59, 565.

Shinault was also shown montages but did not identify anyone. 2RP 2057-60, 2067-68.

Cooper waited approximately a year after the shootings before contacting Juice. 2RP 1996-97. Juice denied

involvement. Ex. 225 at 32. However, he revealed that, about a week before the shootings, Nate, another local drug dealer, suggested a plan to take over Nguyen's drug dealing operation in the Caves. Ex. 225 at 23-25. He suggested the plan in the presence of Juice, another man, and the Ta'afulisia brothers. Ex. 225 at 24-25. The brothers showed no reaction, and Juice claimed he did not consider it a serious plan. Ex. 225 at 26.

4. The boys' uncle Lucky implicated them in hopes of obtaining leniency for his own crimes.

Thanks to Bauer's identification of Juice after the shooting, Seattle police were immediately alerted to look out for a Samoan suspect. 2RP 985. Detective James Huber called his contact, Lucky, who agreed to see what he could find out. 3RP 509-10, 512-13.

Lucky had contacted Huber about a month earlier seeking to exchange information for help with numerous pending charges. 3RP 498, 504-05. A new conviction for Lucky would mean a hefty prison sentence as well as extension of the sex offender registration requirement that prevented him from

living with his family. 2RP 1585-87. Thus far, Lucky had been unable to provide anything Huber deemed useful, but Lucky stayed in frequent contact, trying to come up with something. 3RP 498, 504-05, 510. Huber described Lucky as unusually persistent. 2RP 976-77.

Later that evening, Lucky called Huber back and told him word on the street was that the Vietnamese were responsible for the Jungle shooting. 2RP 631. The next day, Lucky called back with a new story. 2RP 638, 657.

According to Lucky, he had gotten a call from James Ta'afulisia. 2RP 1572-73. James told Lucky he was looking for Juice, Lucky's brother-in-law and close friend, because the police were looking for Juice as a shooting suspect. 2RP 1572-74. James said that he, James, was responsible for the shooting, so Juice should turn himself in. 2RP 1574.

Later that day, Lucky arrived at the police station along with his brother-in-law, known as Reno, for an interview with Cooper. 2RP 635, 639, 1221. Before coming to the station,

Lucky and Reno had called James back, this time secretly recording the call, and had James again confessed to being the shooter. 1RP 205. Knowing this recording was inadmissible under the privacy act, Cooper obtained a court order authorizing a one-party consent recording. 1RP 208, 211; Pre-trial Ex. 9. Lucky and Reno agreed to try to talk to James about the shooting again, this time wearing a secret recording device. 2RP 1227, 1583-84. The resulting recording is known as the encampment video, admitted as exhibit 203. 2RP 1596-97.

At trial, Lucky testified to his interpretation of the encampment video and denied acting to protect Juice. 2RP 1616-59, 1808. In the video, Lucky asks James if he shot Nguyen, and James answers, "yeah." 2RP 1621. James says he went to the Jungle that day with five other people, including his brothers. 2RP 1621, 1625. James says he might as well just "smoke" all of them. 2RP 1648. James implicates his brother, saying, "Jerome shot him [Nguyen] two times in the neck." Ex. 203, 204. James admits to firing the .45. Ex. 203, 204.

During the video, Lucky never uses Jerome's name. 2RP 1862. In helping interpret the video for the jury, Lucky attributed only a few statements to Jerome. According to Lucky, Jerome mentioned a lady screaming. 2RP 1627. Lucky claimed it was Jerome who said, "all I know is I had a full clip" and admitted having the .22. 2RP 1649, 1881-82; Exs. 203, 204. Jerome also mentioned it was loud at the Caves because of the generator. 2RP 1650; Exs. 203, 204.

Over the course of the video, Lucky and Reno buy from James a .45 caliber handgun that Lucky reported James claimed to have had during the shooting. 2RP 1639-42, 1881-83. The video also shows a broken, antique firearm and a taser in the boys' possession. Exs. 203, 204.

Two days after the encampment video, Seattle police arrested Jerome and his brothers. 2RP 2228-29. In the tent where J.K.T. was found, police also found a .22 caliber Ruger handgun, a taser, a .25 caliber Erma Werke handgun, and a ski mask. 2RP 2294-95, 2301-04, 2306-07.

5. The boys were tried three times for the Jungle shooting.

The King County prosecutor charged Jerome and James with two counts of first-degree murder and three counts of first-degree assault, while armed with a firearm. CP 1-3.

Pre-trial, the brothers argued the encampment video was inadmissible in violation of Washington's privacy act. CP 461. The court admitted the video under the statutory exception allowing police to record with one party's consent and a court order. CP 14-17.

The boys also moved to sever their cases for trial or exclude each other's statements on the encampment video under the Confrontation Clause. 1RP 837-38; 4RP 15-33. The court ruled the Confrontation Clause did not apply because the boys' statements on the encampment video were not testimonial and denied the motion to sever. 1RP 837-40,

The defense also moved to exclude evidence of the antique firearm and taser under ER 404(b). CP 30-33. The court denied the motion, finding the weapons relevant to linking

James and Jerome to the tent where J.K.T. was found. CP 63-64.

Jerome also moved to restrict the ballistics testimony by the crime lab's forensic scientist. 1RP 733. Arguing that the science does not support an ability to match bullets or casings to a specific firearm with certainty, he argued the forensic scientist should not be permitted to testify using the terms "match" or "certainty." 1RP 733; CP 37-38. He argued she should be restricted to saying that the toolmarks on the bullets, casings, and firearms were consistent with having been fired from a specific firearm. CP 37-38. The court granted this motion. 1RP 736; CP 64.

Despite the pre-trial ruling, counsel did not object when the forensic scientist testified that the four shell casings found at the scene of the shooting were fired in the Colt .45. 2RP 2423. The witness testified she could "conclusively determine" the bullet pulled from Tran's body was fired by the .45 Colt. 2RP 2424. She identified three other casings from the scene as having been fired in the .22 Ruger found in the tent. 2RP 2423.

The first two juries were unable to reach a unanimous verdict, and mistrials were declared. CP 140-41, 462. At the third trial, the brothers were found guilty. CP 171-180. In recognition of the boys' youth and upbringing, the court imposed an exceptional sentence below the standard range of 480 months. CP 426-28. Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 437. Jerome now seeks this Court's review.

D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

1. Admission of the encampment video violated Jerome's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses.

The Confrontation Clause is concerned with testimonial statements that are "procured with a primary purpose of creating an out-of-court substitute for trial testimony." Michigan v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344, 358-59, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 1155, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011). The primary purpose test encompasses both the speaker's purpose in making the statements and the listener's

purpose in eliciting the statements. <u>Id.</u> at 367. Jerome argues the encampment video is testimonial hearsay because it is the result of a law enforcement mission, the purpose of which was to obtain admissible, incriminating evidence for use at trial. The Court of Appeals held the video is not testimonial because the brothers were unaware they were speaking to law enforcement. Slip op. at 24. This Court should accept review and reverse.

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law that has yet to be answered by this Court or the United States Supreme Court.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment states: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The Confrontation Clause protects the right of the accused to cross-examine those who provide testimony against him or her at trial. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004).

Courts apply the "primary purpose" test to determine whether the primary purpose of the statement is to provide a substitute for live testimony on the one hand, or instead some other purpose such as to address an ongoing emergency. Ohio v. Clark, 576 U.S. 237, 246, 135 S. Ct. 2173, 2179, 192 L. Ed. 2d 306 (2015); Bryant, 562 U.S. at 359-59. The primary purpose test encompasses both the speaker's purpose in making the statements and the listener's purpose in eliciting the statements. Bryant, 562 U.S. at 367. The test is an objective analysis of the circumstances of the encounter and the actions of the parties to determine "the purpose that reasonable participants would have had" as ascertained from those statements, actions, and circumstances. Bryant, 562 U.S. at 360. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the United States Supreme Court has not determined whether a statement is testimonial under this test when the speaker and the interrogator have different, and diametrically opposed, purposes. Slip op. at 14 (quoting Bryant, 562 U.S. at 383 (Scalia, J., dissenting)).

Here, this Court should hold that Jerome's brothers' statements in the encampment video were testimonial hearsay and their admission at his trial violated the Confrontation Clause because the recording is the result of a law enforcement mission, the purpose of which was to obtain admissible, incriminating evidence for use at trial. This fact distinguishes this case from Clark, where the Court found statements about child abuse, made by a student to a concerned teacher, were not testimonial. 576 U.S. at 250-51. Applying the primary purpose test, the Clark Court reasoned that, despite the law requiring teachers to report child abuse, the encounter was not "a law enforcement mission aimed primarily at gathering evidence for a prosecution." Id. at 249. Clark noted that both the teachers' questions and the boy's answers "were primarily aimed at identifying and ending the threat." Id. at 247. The Court found "no indication that the primary purpose of the conversation was to gather evidence" for the prosecution. Id.

By contrast, the encampment video in this case was, from the outset, "a law enforcement mission aimed primarily at gathering evidence for prosecution." <u>Id.</u> at 249. Lucky had already told police James had confessed, but Lucky's credibility was suspect due to his relationship with Juice and his desire to obtain the state's help with pending charges. 2RP 1574; 1RP 276-78, 1226-27, 1337. Lucky and Reno's earlier secret recording was inadmissible. 1RP 205, 208. The purpose of the encampment video was to enhance Lucky's credibility and obtain a confession that would be admissible at trial. 1RP 191-93, 272; Pre-trial Ex. 9.

Lucky and Reno's purpose as informants was no different from that of the police. "An informant knows or should know that anything he or she says can and will be used against the target." State v. Hudlow, 182 Wn. App. 266, 284, 331 P.3d 90, 98 (2014).

The Court of Appeals held that unwitting statements to an undercover officer were not testimonial in <u>State v. Chambers</u>, 134 Wn. App. 853, 853, 862, 142 P.3d 668 (2006) (citing <u>Bourjaily v.</u>

<u>United States</u>, 483 U.S. 171, 107 S. Ct. 2775, 97 L. Ed. 2d 144 (1987)). However, the <u>Chambers</u> decision predated both <u>Bryant</u> and <u>Clark</u>, and the <u>Chambers</u> court's application of the primary purpose test focused solely on the intent of the speaker to the exclusion of the interrogator. <u>Id.</u> at 862. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, <u>Chambers</u> is of little help because it fails to apply the current version of the primary purpose test. <u>See</u> Slip op. at 14 (noting this Court did not recognize the primary purpose test until 2019).

Jerome asks this Court to accept review of this question and reverse his convictions. Admission of the encampment video violated Jerome's right to confront his brothers as witnesses because he had no opportunity to cross examine them about the statements made on the video. <u>Hudlow</u>, 182 Wn. App. at 282 (citing Crawford, 541 U.S. at 53–54).

2. The encampment video was likewise inadmissible under the privacy act because an uncorroborated informant's tip fails to establish probable cause.

The authorization of a recording with only one-party's consent requires a showing of probable cause that the non-consenting party has committed a felony. RCW 9.73.090(2). Here, that showing rested solely on Lucky's claim that James confessed to him. This was insufficient because there was no information establishing whether Lucky's information was credible. This Court should accept review to determine whether the <u>Aguilar-Spinelli</u> test, which normally governs determinations of probable cause, also applies in the context of the privacy act.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). This question is one of substantial public interest, and the Court of Appeals determination is in conflict with case law from this Court and the Court of Appeals providing that the privacy act provides greater protection for privacy than even the Washington

¹ Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 41389 S. Ct. 584, 21 L. Ed. 2d 637 (1969); <u>Aguilar v. Texas</u>, 378 U.S. 108, 11484 S. Ct. 1509, 12 L. Ed. 2d 723 (1964).

Constitution as well as <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 199-200, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992), where this Court turned to these constitutional standards to define probable cause in the context of the Privacy Act because the legislature did not offer its own definition. <u>Id.</u>

Washington's privacy act, chapter 9.73 RCW, "is one of the most restrictive electronic surveillance laws ever promulgated." State v. O'Neill, 103 Wn.2d 853, 878, 700 P.2d 711 (1985). The act makes it unlawful, with a few narrow exceptions, to record a private conversation without the consent of all parties. RCW 9.73.030. Any information obtained in violation of the act is categorically inadmissible in court. RCW 9.73.050.

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