FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/1/2022 2:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100981-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEROME TA'AFULISIA,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BUT, IF REVIEW IS GRANTED, IT SHOULD INCLUDE THE ISSUE WHETHER THE VIDEO WAS ADMISSIBLE BECAUSE STATEMENTS OF JEROME'S BROTHERS WERE ADOPTIVE ADMISSIONS AND, THUS, NOT HEARSAY AT ALL
Ε.	CONCLUSION 12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Table of Cases
Washington State:
<u>State v. Ta'afulisia</u> , No. 81723-0-I, slip op. (Ct. of App. Div. I, filed 5/9/22)
Rules and Regulations
Washington State:
ER 8014
RAP 13.4

A. INTRODUCTION

Jerome Ta'afulisia seeks review of, inter alia, the decision by the Court of Appeals in this case holding that statements by his brothers made in a surveillance video were not testimonial under the Confrontation Clause of the federal constitution. State v. Ta'afulisia, No. 81723-0-I, slip op. (Ct. of App. Div. I, filed 5/9/22). This issue does not merit review as the Court of Appeals decision is plainly consistent with prior decisions of the Supreme Court and this Court. However, should this Court accept review on any issue, for the reasons set forth below, it should also take review of the adoptive admissions issue. The statements made by Jerome's brothers on the encampment video were adopted by Jerome and, thus, are not subject to the Confrontation Clause.

B. <u>STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW</u>

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>¹

James, Jerome, and their younger brother, J.K.T. (who was prosecuted in juvenile court) all participated in a robbery and shooting in a homeless encampment in Seattle where a man and a woman were killed and three other people were seriously wounded. A key piece of evidence against the brothers was a video and audio taped recording of the brothers discussing the shootings amongst themselves and with their uncle, "Lucky"

¹ The procedural and substantive facts were described in great detail in the State's brief below and by the Court of Appeals and will not be repeated here.

and a relative, "Reno." Lucky and Reno were cooperating with police after learning that another relative, "Juice" might be falsely implicated in the crimes.

Jerome and James argued on appeal that the recordings were improper under Washington's Privacy Act and because the recorded statements were testimonial evidence inadmissible under the Confrontation Clause absent an opportunity to cross-examine the declarants because the statements of James and J.K.T. were testimonial. The State responded to the Confrontation Clause arguments with two counter-arguments:

1) the statements were not testimonial because they were adoptive admissions and adoptive admissions are not barred by the Confrontation Clause, and 2) the recording was not testimonial because the primary purpose of the statements was not to create testimony. Br. of Respondent at 38-40 and 41-50.²

² The appeals by Jerome and James were linked but not consolidated in the Court of Appeals. James made a motion to incorporate Jerome's arguments into his appeal, and that motion was granted.

As to the first argument, the State noted that Jerome did not have a right under the Confrontation Clause to confront his brothers because their joint re-telling of the robbery and shooting story meant that Jerome was adopting the admissions of his brothers as to how the events unfolded.

The statements on the encampment recording plainly meet the test for adoptive admissions under ER 801(d)(2)(ii). Jerome did not merely sit mute as his brothers talked about his crime. He listened attentively and interjected comments throughout. His comments augmented the story and highlighted his own participation. He quite plainly adopted his brothers' statements concerning this event. The trial court ruled that the statements were adoptive admissions, 1RP (5/30/17) 840, and Jerome has not assigned error to that ruling.

Br. of Resp. at 39-40. A defendant does not have a right to "confront" statements that he adopted as his own. Br. of Resp. at 40.

The Court of Appeals recognized that an adoptive admission is not hearsay and, thus, might not be subject to the Confrontation Clause, but it then rejected the argument on the

flawed premise that Jerome was silent in the encampment video conversation.

Only the combination of the utterances and Jerome's silence in the face of them tended to prove a fact in issue in the case against Jerome.

Had Jerome adopted his brothers' admissions in a manner other than by silence, the confrontation clause calculus might be different. But here, when it was his silence that was admitted to incriminate him, the speakers who gave meaning to his silence – James and J.K.T – were witnesses against him who were never subject to cross-examination. To determine whether the brothers' utterances fell within the ambit of the right to confrontation, accordingly, it remains necessary to determine whether the utterances were testimonial. The adoptive admission ruling, relying as it does on the evidentiary hearsay rules, does not provide the answer.

Ta'afulisia, slip op. at 7-8.

The court's first factual premise is plainly incorrect.

Jerome made multiple incriminating statements on the recording. This fact is evident from the trial court's pretrial rulings, which properly recognized that all the brothers engaged in the conversation with Lucky and Reno. In fact, counsel is unaware of a single place in the record where the trial court or

the defendant's trial lawyers asserted, much less established, that Jerome was silent during this recorded conversation.

Jerome's active participation in the conversation is evident from the transcript of the videotape and the transcript of the trial, in which Lucky testified at length on an almost lineby-line basis about the video and who was speaking at a given time. The record shows that Jerome made at least the following statements in the recorded conversation:

James: That's what Phat was saying. He was saying that to – to these guys. "Come the – come the fuck around here." (14)

Jerome: Like, telling me like I'm a little kid. (15)

J.K.T: And then some bitches came out, and (inaudible). (20)

James: The girl came out with a fucking, I think it was a shot -- (20)

Lucky: Shotty? (20)

Jerome: She went like this to James (inaudible). (20)

James: (inaudible) fuckin' smoked. (20)

Jerome: she could have shot me (inaudible) I couldn't see.

James: She said, "what the fuck is going on?" Before she even pulled it out. (20)

Reno: You had the .45? (20)

James: Jerome popped (inaudible). And I had -- (20)

Reno: oh, you had the deuce (inaudible)? (21)

Jerome: I fired the .45...cause it was too loud, so he (inaudible). (21)

James: I know, I couldn't, I couldn't keep doing it. (21)

...

Jerome: You don't even know how many people was in there. (51)

Jerome: All I know was I had a full clip. (51)

Jerome: And we didn't go up and 'baadaadaadaa.' (52)

Jerome: We was standing there. We looked around, (inaudible) talking to us, like -- I was like (inaudible) talking to us, like -- I was like (inaudible) bitches. He was like, "Oh, no, y'all n****** don't walk this way." Cause like I'm like, "What? It's the walkway, n*****, what you mean?" (Inaudible). (52)

³ Racial slurs have been redacted from this pleading.

Jerome: transactions and shit. He was just standin' there lookin' at everybody (inaudible). We knew someone was in the tent -- (52)

Jerome: but they didn't - they didn't hear us come up there. The generator's on. (52)

<u>See</u> Appendix A (Table of Record References) and Appendix B (Transcript of Encampment Video).⁴

Even Jerome's opening brief acknowledges that testimony in the record shows that Jerome was not silent. Br. of App. at 13 ("According to Lucky, Jerome mentioned a lady screaming. 2RP 1627. Lucky claimed it was Jerome who said, "all I know is I had a full clip" and admitted to having the .22. 2RP 1649, 1881-82; Exs. 203, 204. Jerome also mentioned that it was loud because of the generator. 2RP 1650; Exs. 203, 204."). This list of Jerome's statements is incomplete as

⁴ Declarants were never identified on the actual transcript because defense counsel persuaded the court that identifying the speakers would interfere with jurors' independent assessment of who was talking. <u>See e.g.</u> CP 77-79. Speakers on the recording were identified by Lucky in his testimony.

⁵ Jerome asserted in his opening brief that "Jerome is not seen on camera saying anything of note." Br. of App. at 12. This

compared to the admissions listed above, but even these acknowledged admissions are significant, because admitting to presence at the robbery and murder scene – as the robbery unfolded – and admissions to carrying a gun and a "full clip" are certainly "of note," for purposes of the adoptive admissions analysis. At a minimum, these assertions prove that Jerome was not "silent" as the Court of Appeals erroneously said.

After rejecting the adoptive admissions argument, the court then considered whether the statements were testimonial under the "primary purpose" test. The court held that the statements of James and his younger brother were not testimonial because the primary purpose test focuses on the declarants' purpose in making the statements. Plainly, the brothers did not talk about the murders and shooting in order to create evidence against themselves. Although the informants

statement in the brief artfully sidesteps Jerome's admissions off-screen, in other words, statements that can be *heard* on the audio portion of the recording, even if Jerome is not shown on the limited camera view at that precise moment.

intended to create evidence against the brothers, their purpose did not control the analysis. Slip op. at 8-24.

D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BUT, IF REVIEW IS GRANTED, IT SHOULD INCLUDE THE ISSUE WHETHER THE VIDEO WAS ADMISSIBLE BECAUSE STATEMENTS OF JEROME'S BROTHERS WERE ADOPTIVE ADMISSIONS AND, THUS, NOT HEARSAY AT ALL

The issues raised by Jerome in his petition do not meet the criteria for review. The court resolved the Privacy Act arguments under well-established decisions interpreting the statutory requirements of the Act. Its decision does not conflict with those precedents or violate the statute. Thus, those aspects of the court's decision do not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

The court's decision that statements on the recording are non-testimonial is a constitutional question but, in light of the Court of Appeals' carefully reasoned opinion, it is not a decision which requires review by this Court. Supreme Court precedent plainly supports the conclusion that whether a

statement is testimonial depends on whether the primary purpose of the declarant was to submit evidence against the accused.

Should this Court decide, however, to grant review on the "primary purpose" issue, or any other issue, it should also grant review on the "adoptive admissions" issue. The adoptive admissions argument is an independent basis for affirmance of these murder and attempted murder convictions. The Court of Appeals decision below truncated that analysis on the plainly incorrect factual premise that Jerome was silent during the encampment recording. He was not. Jerome said multiple incriminating things on the recording and, as the unchallenged findings of the trial court establish, his participation makes clear that he was fully adopting the statements of his brothers as they retold their story to Lucky and Reno.

The Court of Appeals decision did not offer any citations to the record or otherwise explain why it was rejecting those findings and the plain evidence in the record and deciding,

instead, that Jerome had been silent. Once this erroneous factual predicate is corrected, it becomes clear that Jerome's Confrontation Clause challenge should be rejected because the Clause does not guarantee a right to cross-examine regarding statements one has adopted, because those statements are not hearsay at all.

There is currently no decision from a Washington appellate court directly holding that an adoptive admission falls outside the Confrontation Clause analysis. This is "a significant question of law under the Constitution ... of the United States." RAP 13.4(b)(3). Review is warranted on this issue if this Court accepts review of any other issue in this case.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, review should be denied but, if review is granted, it should be granted on the adoptive admissions argument, too.

This document contains 1,975 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 1st day of July, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

APPENDIX A

Appendix A

Table of References to Jerome's Statements on the Encampment Recording (*indicates redacted racial slur)

Trial	Trial transcript	Video transcript	Video transcript
transcript			citation
Citation			(timestamp)
14RP	Q. Who in the background	Jerome: Like, telling me like I'm	page 15, lines 2 -
(11/21/19)	there was talking?	a little kid	3
at 1617,	A. Jerome.		(at 15 mins 35
lines 7 - 8			sec)
14RP	Q. Who is that talking there?	James: (Inaudible) fuckin'	page 20, lines 19
(11/21/19)	A. Say the fucking smoke?	smoked.	- 26 to page 21,
at 1624,	James.	Jerome: And she (inaudible) like	lines 1 - 7
lines 4 -	Q. So, there are multiple	a bitch.	(at 19 min 55 sec
15	people talking at that point?	James: She kept talkin' about the	to 20 mins 12 sec)
	A. Yes, ma'am.	(inaudible). She said, "What the	
	Q. Who do you hear in	fuck if goin' on," before she even	
	there?	pulled it out.	
	A. Jerome and James.	Reno: You had the .45?	
	Q. And is somebody else	James: Jerome popped	
	asking questions besides	(inaudible). And I had	
	you?	Reno: Oh, you had the deuce?	
	A. Yes, ma'am.	Jerome: I fired the .45, cause it	
	Q. Who is that?	was too loud, so he (inaudible)	
	A. Reno.	James: I know. I couldn't I	
	Q. Who is that talking?	couldn't keep doing it.	
	A. Jerome.		

14RP (11/21/19) at 1634, lines 2 - 19	Q. Who is that talking right there? A. Jerome. Q. And what did he just say? A. Talking about somebody was saying that all the Asians will come through and shoot down the spot. Q. Now, you were talking about some meeting? A. Yes, ma'am. Q. What was that about? A. About the thing that went down. Q. What thing that went down? A. The shooting in the Jungle. Q. The thing that you were talking about? A. Yes, ma'am. Q. So what was happening with the meeting? A. Supposed to come together and talk about what was the reason behind the shooting, what happened. Q. And who was supposed to be a part of this meeting? A. All Samoans and Asians.	Lucky: You're the oldest one, man. Why don't you jump in and help your brother stop - ya know what I'm saying? You don't want - you don't want your mom comin' crying while you in the body bag, you know, right? You know Uncle Ace called me um two days ago. They said uh they about to have a meeting up there in the Chi- in Chinatown. Jerome: All the Asians? Lucky: All the Asians with all the Ooses. Jerome: No (inaudible). Lucky: Cause - yeah. Jerome: They should have - they should have only the Asians come - come shoot up this spot right here, and we're ready. Joseph: Yea. Lucky: I don't know. Jerome: That's what Francis came and told everybody here. Lucky: No, Francis is lying. Cause Fran - James: Like only Asian - (inaudible) come over here and they're gonna shoot up everybody.	page 28 line 16 - 26, page 29 line 1 - 9 (at 26 min 11 sec to 26 min 45 sec)
14 RP (11/21/19) at 1648, lines 22 - 25; at 1649, lines 1 - 8	Q. Who was that talking? A. James. Q. What did James say there? A. He said he might as well just smoke all of them because he never wanted to go up there and beat them up. Q. And who was that? A. Jerome. Q. Who was that? A. Jerome. Q. What did Jerome say there? A. He said all he know that he had a full clip.	James: I'm not gonna I'm not gonna risk my life tryin' to beat someone up, and then someone comes behind me and smokes me. I might as well smoke all of them right now and then get all the shit. Jerome: You don't even know how many people was in there. James: You you would a been like Jerome: All I know was I had a full clip	page 51 lines 6 - 14 (43 mins 19 sec to 43 min 33 sec)

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